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“TERRACE HILL"

The qreat brick house built bv John L. Reifsnider, Sr., in 1873
is nrobably the laraest, and certainlv the most imoressive house in the
Citvs; that it is still able to impress bv size and location (it is on a
small hill overlookina the City) is a testament to its architect and builder,
esneciallv vhen one sees how much nlainer the house is todav than it vas
originallv. PRasicallv the house todav consists of two 2% storv cubes whose
solidness is hroken hv several steenly nitched qahles and hv a chateau-like
steen roof ("chateau" in the style of Y. ", Hunt.) The house's dozens of
rooms remained in the family until taken over bv Vestern Marvland College
in the 172n's, Photoaraphs and drawinas of "Terrace Hill" made before its
academic career hbeaan, reveal an attemnt to create a villa suburbana on the
west of Vestminster. Pejfsnider constructed on his 4% acre lot, an elahorate
comnound of areenhouses, 5 storvy windmill, and, of course fine stables. The
lot was handsomelv landscaned and had a varietv of lawn ornaments: cast iron
animals, and an iron and stone 3-tiered fountain.

The builder of the house, John Lawrence Peifsnider, Sr., was horn
in Yestminster in 1236 of Termanic stock that emiarated from the Palatinate
to Philadelnhia around 1777, His ancestors moved, in a manner tvnical of a
large seament of Westminster's nooulation, westwards from Philadelnhia throuah
southern Pennsvlvania arriving in Carroll Countv around 18", Deifsnider made
a fortune in the wholesale and retail trade, a fortune that was increased hv
his son John L. Peifsnider, Jr. (who inherited "Terrace Hill") as he founded
and directed the Smith and Reifsnider Lumher Companv, an oraanization that
still thrives todav.
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The great brick house built by John L. Reifsnider, Sr. in 1873
is nrobably the largest, and certainly the most impressive, house in the
City; that it is still able to impress by size and location is a testament
to its architect and builder, especially when one sees how much plainer
the house is today than it was originally. Basically, the house today
consists of two ?2%-story cubes whose solidness is broken by several
steeply-pitched gables. The brincipal (eastern) cube measures about 4N'
X 40" x 40'. Its eastern (entrance) facade is three bays wide above a
hiagh course fieldstone foundation. The center of this facade is defined
by the remains of a porch that once covered the facade, the entrance doors,
and the lower section of a large square tower. The entrance doors are
half-glass, half-wood double doors with elaborately cast hrass hardvare.
They are located beneath a two-door, arched transom which is also double.
The norch 1is hipped roofed, and is supported by four, finely-turned, white-
painted, wood columns; elaborate tracery forms a segmental arch on each
of the three exposed sides. The tower has one double-hung sash window on
its east facade; the window has two over two panes, white wooden sills and
a brick Tudor arch. The tower was originally topped by what apnears to
have been (judaing from old photogranhs) a 2"' obelisk. However, the
obelisk has lonag been destroyed. Interesting brickwork marks what is now
the too of the tower, and what was oriainally the center: white-nainted
molded bricks are arranged in crosses across the front of the tower's east
facade in a pattern that resembles clustered chimneys of Tudor England.
The other four windows of the east facade are identical to the tower window,
and there are two, one per floor, on either side of this central axis. Those
on the second floor are placed under very steen white-edged gables which
form circumflexes over the building (one presumes that the rooms behind
these accented windows would have been princinal bedrooms). The south facade
was originally alive with contrast between curves and angles: the harge-
boards under the many gables on this side seem today to have been almost
impossibly carved. These carvinas have been removed, and the facade today
denends unon anales and size. It is a lona two bays deen; the first bay .
consists of one window on each of the three floors, windows arowing increas-
inaly large as they stretch aroundwards - there is a small four-light window
in the attic, a larger pair of 2/2 windows on the second floor, and a 3-
sided, hipned-roof, bav window on the aqround floor. The bay window has one
2/2 window in each of its exnosed sides, and has fine carved nanellina all
around helow its hinned roof. These windows, 1ike all other windows in the
buildina, are Tudor arched and have white wooden sills. To the west, the
large aable is renlaced bv a small one (adain resemhlinag a circumflex) over
the second-story 2/2 window, which is vertically alianed above the around
2/2 windows. A large expanse of chateau-style slate roof is exnosed on
this facade, a roof that is basically laid in grey rectangular slates, but
is enlivened by 3 widelv-spaced bands of red slate. The west facade of the
main cube is half taken up by a large gable that contains the connector

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

"Terrace Hi11", built, as the correrstone says, by John L.
Reifsnider in 1873, stands as one of the few absolute landmarks in
the City of Westminster. Westminster's main architectural feature,
and probably its main strength, is in its unity fabric, house blends
into house, and block blends into block almost effortlessly, and
almost invisibly. From its beginnings in the middle of the 18th
century, the City has always been fairly conservative, if its buildings
are anv reflection of their builders' personalities. !lhat Henry Glassie
has labeled the "Pennsylvania Farm House" took root not only in surrounding
Carroll County, but also up the length and breadth of Main Street in
Westminster. Generally speaking, whatever variety exists in the City's
buildings, exists in how individuals took a basic form and adapted it
to their needs. This was true through the end of the 18th century and
through all of the 19th century. It was true, that is, excent for a
few bold individuals who had the courage, and sophistication (that money
can give) to look bevond this basic form and to take note of what was
hanpenina elsewhere in the country. A great many families achieved a
certain amount of economic success in the mid-19th century; the Smith,
Peese-Fletcher, and Wantz families all progressed substantially beyond
a subsistence level, and built houses which reflect this. However, their
houses were still in the Citv's basic building style. The Reifsnider
family, on the other hand, threw off this tradition and established new
standards, based on personal taste, natiomwide fashions, and (it must be
admitted) excellence of craftsmanshio. The houses built by two brothers,
Charles at 23N East Main Street, and John here at "Terrace Hill", mark
this ohenomenon.

John Lawrence Reifsnider, Sr., was born October 19, 1836, in
Westminster. His family's history is typical of that of a large segment
of Hestminster's nopulation: one ancestor, Sebastian Peifsnider, was born
in the Palatinate in 1696, and later immigrated to the United States,
dying in “ontqomery County, Pennsylvania, in 1755. His descendants moved
to Westminster through Pennsylvania (some lived in Reading) until another
Peifsnider, also named Sebastian, was found livina in Tanevtown in 18nNn.
Jesse Peifsnider, John's father, moved to Westminster in the mid 1820n's
accordina to an article in the Yestminster Democratic Advocate. (But other
accounts say that John L. Reifsnider was born in Westminster in 1836.)

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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between the cubes; to its north is a circumflexed 2/2 second-storv window,
and a small 15' x 15' x 15' cube. This cube has one 4/4 window on each of
its north and west facades, the latter facade also containing a Tudor-
arched door below a shed-roofed awning. The top of the cube is banded by

a (surprisingly) simple railina which protects the balconv located there,
and approached by a door located anqularlv between the main cube and the
connector. The north facade of the main cube is identical to the south
facade except that west of the bay window are two 2/2 windows, not one.
Interesting shed-roofed dormer windows 1ight the attic on the north and west
facades just heyond the circumflexed second-story windows. The smaller cube,
located to the west, has identical north and south facades; each has two 2/2
reqularly-snaced windows on its two stories. (However, the north facade has
a 2/? window lightina the attic which is formed by the very steeply-pitched,
slate-covered gable roof of this cube.)

The two cubes are connected by a one hay wide hvohen which maintains
the steen-roofed pattern of the house. There is one 2/? window on the second
floor of each of the north and south facades (the only flat-arched windows in
the building); the south facade opnosite the cube of the north facade has a
larae, square, oriel window, containing a nair of double 1/1 windows which
together form the requisite Tudor arch at their toos. There are three, two-
light basement windows on the south facade, west of the large bulkhead cellar
entrance located just west of the main cube's bay window.

Mriginally, a third, and smaller vet, cube was nresent, and was used
for cold storage: veagetables, notatoes, and ice. This cube had much less
intricately-carved bargehoards (but it is hard to think of a house that would
have had more intricately-carved woodwork than the Reifsnider House). It
annears, judaing from old nhotographs, to have heen largelv windowless, but
to have had the usual very steep roof. The now nonexistent section was connected
to the rest of the house by a still-existing, one, 2/2 window, deer, hinped-roofed
connector. The west wall, all in 5 course common bond brick, of this connector
displays, in the brickwork, changes that must have occurred when this third
section was removed.

N1d photogranhs reveal other losses to the buildina, beyond the wood-
work in the gables: there seem to have been, at one time at least, a half dozen
corbel-capned chimneys punctuating the skyline over the house; all hut two in
the main cube are aone (and these two caps are much simpler than their ancestors).
Nther changes include the removal of two-thirds of the east facades front porch.

Photoqranhs and drawinas of "Terrace Hill" made durina the first 75
years of its existence, reveal an attempt to create a villa suburbana to the
vest of Westminster. Reifsnider constructed, on his 4% acre lot, an elaborate
comoound of qreenhouses, a 5-storv windmill (from the ton of which, according
to his aranddauahter, Miss Ann S. Peifsnider, one could see most of the county)
and, of course, fine stahles. The lot was handsomelv landscaped, had a variety
of cast iron lawn ornaments around the house and on the terraces that led down-
wards from this estate to the simpler houses of Westminster. Miss Reifsnider
esnecially remembers that the lawn's cast iron deer and other animals would
usually disapnear on Halloween niaght, havina been removed bv boys from the nearby
nren school. There is a nhotoaranh of another of the features of "Terrace Hill"
a three-tiered stone and iron fountain. The grounds are now bare of ornaments.
‘then the house was adanted to suit the administrative needs of “estern Maryland
Colleqge, the interior was similarly simplified. In plan, the front cube was,
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and is, basicallyv, a central-hall, doubhle-parlor building, with halls runnina
to the rear in a circuitous manner to connect the rear rooms. A magnificent
pair of gilt and crystal chandeliers still exists in the double narlor on the
north side of the main cubhe: one of these per room. Also remaining, are the
broad late-Yictorian bannister and handsome brass hardware around the entrance
door. (The hardware is verv similar to that to he found at the Smith-Fisher-
Fletcher House, no. 254 East Main Street, and at the house built by Peifsnider's
brother, Charles, at 237" Fast Main Street.)
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Jesse RPeifsnider was a merchant., and John entered his father's business as

a bookkeener at the age of 14 in 185", The Democratic Advocate's obituarv

of John notes that he “entered the store of his father and by close attention,
ranidly acauired a knowledae of the business”. Four vears later, the firm
vias called "Reifsnider and Sons". Reifsnider continued the wholesale and
retail business of his father, dealing with firms in Raltimore and Tennessee
(according to the obituary nublished in the PAmerican Sentinel). In 1873, he
entered the wholesale tobacco trade,and dealt with firms in Pichmond. He

was president of the Westminster Gas Light Comnanv from its heginnina in
March, 1876, until his death on July 17, 175, Desnite these many director-
ships (he was also a trustee of Western Maryland Colleae), anparentlv ill
health forced him to retire at the age of 41 in 1872, 5 vears after Terrace
Hi11 had been built. He bought the land, consisting of 4 acres, three roods,
and 3?2 sauare perches on November 6, 1865, from George Stouch for $80". This
was a part of a tract called "Rond's Meadow Enlarged", and is fullv described
in deed recorded among the Land Records in Carroll County in Book 32, Page 36N,

Unon his death, his son, John L. Peifsnider Jr,, inherited the land
(Wi11 9/497). This Peifsnider aonarentlv, also, inherited his father's business
acumen, working first for the S. W. Venable Tobacco Companv of Pichmond, and
later oraanizina the still-successful Smith and Reifsnider Lumbervard (see
form for no. 26 Yest Main Street). This Mr. Reifsnider had a variety of
affiliations that could well symbolize the alliances which a successful, earlv-
2N-century businessman would create: he was a member of St. Paul's Reformed
Church, of the Door - to - Virtue Lodae no. 4f, the Westminster Rotarvy Club,
the Hestminster Forest and Stream Club, the Chamber of Commerce, the lestminster
Riding Club, Charitv Lodae no. 58, Kniahts of Pythias; he was the Nirector of
the First National Bank, a member of the Board of Managers of the Yestminster
Cemetarv Comnanv, a Vice President of the Carroll County Mutual Fire Insurance
Comnany, a member of the Sons of the American Revolution, a member of the
Middle-Atlantic Lumbermen's Association, of the Pennsylvania Petail Coal “erchant's
Association, of the Baltimore-Carroll Coal Association, and of the Blue Ridge
Lumberman's Association. He died on Auqust 1, 1943 at the aace of 7", at his
home.

Three of his five children, Ann, Janet, and Eltinge, bouaht "Terrace
Hi11" from the Safe Deposit and Trust Company in Baltimore, John L. Reifsnider,
Jr.'s, trustee, on January 6, 1951 (deed 2Nn3/57¢), and then sold the house to
its oresent owner, Yestern Maryland College. Problems of modern unkeen prohably
require the college to keep "Terrace Hill" in a simnler stvle than it originallv
knev, MNevertheless, this site, on a small hill overlooking the entire City, and
the still-clear, excellent workmanshin that went into creatinag the house's five
course common bond brick bulk, still make the nlace notable. If it is, in fact,
no longer a villa suburbana, it is still a strikinag buildina. If the comings
and aoinas of students and staff have renlaced the goat and donkev carts that
carried John L. Reifsnider, Sr.'s children and arandchildren (see the marvelously
evocative nhotogranh taken at Terrace Hill c. 1885), todav, approaching the
building on foot, climbina up the stone stens from West Main Street, still aives
one nause. It is fittina that “Yestern Maryvland College, for which various
Peifsniders have been trustees, now owns "Terrace Hill", and it is nleasant that
they have so well-maintained this monument to 19th century American canitalism.
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